I. INTRODUCTION 

This case is about my complaint of the unconstitutionality of portions 

of a certain Washington statute, RCW 70.155.100, which permit 

administrative agencies (the Washington State Liquor Control Board and 

the Office of Administrative Hearings) to adjudicate alleged violations of 

the crime defined in RCW 26.28.080, which makes it a gross 

misdemeanor to sell tobacco to minors. I am petitioning the Washington 

Supreme Court to correct the error of the Court of Appeals, Division One, 

which ruled against me and erroneously failed to find that RCW 

70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 ( 4) are unconstitutional on their face. 

II. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY 

I, Petitioner John F. Klinkert, was the Appellant in the 

Court of Appeals (Division One), the Petitioner in the trial court, and the 

Petitioner at the administrative hearing. 

III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED 

I request the Washington Supreme Court to review the Washington 

Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in John F. Klinkert, Appellant v. 

Washington State Liquor Control Board, Respondent, No. 69359-0-I, 

Washington Court of Appeals, Division One (November 12, 2013), herein 

the "Opinion." I have included a copy of the Opinion in Appendix A. In 
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his Petition I will cite it by using 01 to refer, for example, to Page 1 of the 

Opinion. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Significant question of law under the U.S. Constitution 

This case involves a significant question of law under the U.S. 

Constitution because it raises the issue of whether RCW 70.155.100 (3) 

and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when read together with RCW 70.155.100(8), 

conflict with the Sixth Amendment and are therefore unconstitutional on 

their face. 

B. Significant question of law under the Washington 
Constitution 

This case involves a significant question of law under the 

Washington Constitution because it raises the issue of whether RCW 

70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when read together with RCW 

70.155.100(8), conflict with Article I, Section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution and are therefore unconstitutional on their face. 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

[Note: A few times, because of a clerical error, when I refer to 

documents contained in the "Certified Appeal Board Record" I will not 

use the designation "CP", as I do almost everywhere else in this Petition 

for Review, but I will call it "WSLCB Record" and will refer to page 
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numbers within the WSLCB Record rather than using possibly incorrect 

CP page numbers.] 

A. Factual background 

The tobacco sting. On March 16,2011 around 4:15p.m. the King 

County Health Department ran a tobacco compliance check (a "tobacco 

sting") at Walgreens drugstore No. 4157 in Seattle where I was working as 

a cashier. A minor woman, a decoy for the sting, came to my cash register 

and asked to buy a pack of cigarettes. Because she looked young, I asked 

for her ID. She presented her driver's license and I keyed her birth date 

into my cash register. Because I inadvertently keyed in "02-22-1984" as 

her birth date instead of "02-22-1994", the correct birth date on her license 

(an error of one digit out of eight), my cash register allowed the sale. The 

Washington State Liquor Control Board (LCB) issued me a pink Notice of 

Board Action on Tobacco Violation and filed a complaint against me with 

the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH), charging me with a 

violation of a criminal tobacco statute, RCW 26.28.080 (a gross 

misdemeanor), and claiming monetary penalties of$100 under portions of 

another tobacco statute, RCW 70.155.100(3) and RCW 70.155.100(4). 

RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4). 

B. Procedural Background 
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The WSLCB's citation. On March 24, 2011 the Washington State Liquor 

Control Board issued me a citation entitled "Notice of Administrative 

Violation" alleging that I had violated RCW 26.28.080, selling tobacco to 

a minor, which is a crime, a gross misdemeanor. (WSLCB Record, p. 

173, paragraph 3.1) The WSLCB in its Notice also requested a statutory 

penalty of$100 under RCW 70.155.100 because I had previously paid a 

$50 fine for a prior tobacco violation, my first violation, in January, 2011. 

(WSLCB Record, pp. 145-146; p. 174, paragraph 3.9; p. 175, paragraph 

4.5) 

I requested an administrative hearing. (WSLCB Record, p. 146) 

In response to my request for a hearing, on May 20, 2011 the 

WSLCB filed a Complaint with the Office of Administrative Hearings 

(OAH) charging me with a violation ofRCW 26.28.080; claiming 

penalties under RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 ( 4); and 

requesting OAH to assign an administrative law judge (ALJ) for the 

hearing. (WSLCB Record, pp. 94-96) 

Washington's Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05 et 

seq., allows a superior court to grant relief from a final order ofthe 

WSLCB if the court determines that 

"[t]he order, or the statute or rule on which the order 
is based, is in violation of constitutional provisions 
on its face ... ". [Emphasis added] RCW 34.05.570(3)(a). 
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In preparation for the August 25, 2011 telephone hearing I submitted 

motions and an accompanying brief which explained the basis of my 

constitutional attack on RCW 70.155.100 and also argued that the OAH 

had no jurisdiction to adjudicate alleged violations ofRCW 26.28.080 

because it is a criminal statute. (WSLCB Record, pp. 126-132; p. 171, 

paragraph 2.1) 

After the hearing, ALJ Smith issued his decision in his "Findings 

of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Initial Order" dated October 24, 2011. 

He denied my motion that challenged the WSLCB's and the OAH's 

jurisdiction and said that OAH jurisdiction was clear. (WSLCB Record, p. 

172, paragraph 2.3) 

In my November 10, 2011 Petition for Review oflnitial Order, 

submitted to the WSLCB, I argued again that RCW 70.155.100 (3) and 

RCW 70.155.100 (4) were unconstitutional. 

On December 27, 2011 the WSLCB issued its short Final Order, 

which simply adopted ALJ Smith's "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 

Law, and Initial Order" in its entirety. (WSLCB Record, p. 198) 

I filed my Petition for Judicial Review of Agency Action in 

Snohomish County Superior Court on January 23, 2012 

I paid the $100 penalty under protest on January 25, 2012. (CP 61) 
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The hearing on my Petition for Judicial Review of Agency Action 

was held on August 8, 2012, in Snohomish County Superior Court, the 

Honorable Ellen J. Fair presiding. At the conclusion of oral argument, the 

judge found in favor of Respondent WSLCB and directed the attorney for 

the prevailing party, Assistant Attorney General Stephanie Happold, to 

prepare findings of fact, conclusions of law and an order, which the judge 

signed on August 30, 2012 and filed the same day. (CP 8-13) 

I filed my Notice of Appeal on September 28, 2012 in the Court of 

Appeals, Division One. (CP 1) 

The Court of Appealsfiled its Opinion affirming the trial court and 

denying my appeal on November 12, 2013. I then filed this Petition for 

Review requesting the Washington Supreme Court to reverse the Court of 

Appeals. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of review: The proceeding in superior court for the 

judicial review of administrative agency action, and my appeal to the 

Court of Appeals, Division One, dealt with the statutory interpretation and 

alleged unconstitutionality of several Washington tobacco statutes. 

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law over which this court 

exercises de novo review. Jackson v. Fenix Underground, Inc., 142 

Wn.App. 141, 145, 173 P.3d 977 (2007). Likewise, appellate courts also 
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review de novo a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute. State v. 

Schultz, 138 Wn.2d 638, 643, 980 P.2d 1265 (1999). 

B. Preview: What I will show 

I argue below in section C. that the Court of Appeals improperly 

failed to find that RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when 

read together with RCSW 70.155.100 (8), conflict on their face with the 

Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and with Article I, Section 22 

of the Washington Constitution. In section D. I analyze the statutes in 

question, showing that they are unconstitutional on their face. 

C. The Court of Appeals appears to have misunderstood the 
gist of my complaint 

(I am hampered here in my criticism of the Court of Appeals' 

opinion, because it contains no citations to my Appellant's Opening Brief 

or my Appellant's Reply Brief. Yet I don't think this lack detracts from 

my rebuttal.) 

On Page 1 of its Opinion the Court of Appeals said I 

failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that "the statute authorizing the 

Liquor Control Board to impose civil penalties for the sale of tobacco to 

minors is unconstitutional." 01. The Court's claim here is slightly off-

center because the gist of my complaint about the tobacco statute RCW 

70.155.100 is that before the LCB or OAH, both ofwhich are Washington 
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administrative agencies, can assess a monetary penalty, they first 

adjudicate whether a crime was committed- and they are not 

constitutionally forbidden to do that by the Sixth Amendment of the U. S. 

Constitution or by Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution, 

both of which require public criminal jury trials. 

Again on Page 3 of its Opinion the Court appears to have 

misunderstood the gist of my complaint: 

"Klinkert sought judicial review in Snohomish County Superior 
Court challenging the constitutionality of statutes authorizing the 
Board to impose civil penalties for violations ofRCW 28.26.080, 
and seeking costs under RCW 4.84.350." 02 

On Page 3 of its Opinion the Court says - and this puzzles me --

" ... Klinkert cites no relevant authority to support his claims and 
his analysis is incorrect." 03 

To the contrary, I certainly did cite authority for my arguments. My 

arguments on Pages 19 - 27 of my Appellant's Opening Brief cite 

Washington statutes, federal and state constitution provisions, and several 

cases. 

In the same paragraph on Page 3 of its Opinion, the Court claims 

"He further argues that RCW 70.155.100 is unconstitutional 
because it purports to 'transform RCW 26.28.080, a criminal 
statute, into a mere administrative (or civil) violation simply by 
stating that an alleged violation of a criminal statute (here, RCW 
26.28.080, a gross misdemeanor) can be adjudicated by an 
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administrative agency, or the Office of Administrative Hearings, 
under the AP A.'" 03 

However, the reason I provided no citation is that there is no such law-

which is precisely what my paraphrase of the combined operation of RCW 

70.155.100 (3), RCW 70.155.100 (4) and RCW 70.155.100 (8) was 

intended to show. 

At the bottom of Page 3 of its Opinion, the Court implies that I 

asserted that the "state or federal constitutions" prevent the [Washington] 

"Legislature from providing for civil monetary penalties by referring to a 

statute defining particular conduct as a criminal offense" , and the Court, 

in a footnote on Page 4 of its Opinion, cites as support for its own 

assertion to the contrary the case of Winchester v. Stein, 135 Wn.2d 835, 

852-53,856,959 P.2d 1077 (1988). In the Page 4 footnote the Court 

characterizes the holding of Winchester v. Stein, supra, as follows: 

"(the fact that same conduct leading to civil monetary sanctions is 
also criminal in nature is insufficient to prevent imposition of civil 
sanction under the criminal profiteering act on double jeopardy 
grounds)". 04 

Now, first, I have never claimed that "state or federal 

constitutions" prevent the "Legislature from providing for civil monetary 

penalties by referring to a statute defining particular conduct as a criminal 

offense". 
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Second, The Court's summary of the holding in Winchester v. 

Stein, supra, is incomplete and therefore misleading. The Court should 

have added after the last word in its summary of the holding (i.e., after the 

word "grounds") the phrase "following a criminal conviction for the 

conduct." That was the true holding of Winchester v. Stein, where one of 

the defendants, Stein, had already had a criminal jury trial in which the 

jury found him guilty of the same conduct. I myself never had a previous 

criminal trial for the alleged violation of RCW 26.28.080 for which the 

Liquor Control Board issued its citation, and I surmise that no one else 

cited by the Liquor Control Board for violating RCW 26.28.080 has had a 

criminal trial either, because the only adjudication ever made for these 

alleged violations is made by an administrative law judge under the 

purported authority of the Administrative Procedures Act (supposedly 

granted by RCW 70.155.100 (8)). 

On Page 4 of its Opinion, the Court, relying on its Page 4 

footnoted summary (within parentheses) of the holding in Winchester v. 

Stein, supra, asserts that "The Board [i.e., the Liquor Control Board] 

assesses civil penalties in civil proceedings based on conduct that is also 

subject to separate criminal proceedings." 04. Although it is true that 

prosecutors might change persons with violations of RCW 26.28.080, 

nonetheless the tobacco statute RCW 70.155.100 (3), RCW 70.155.100 (4) 
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and RCW 70.155.100 (8) purport to authorize the Liquor Control Board 

and the Office of Administrative Hearings to do exactly the same thing as 

prosecutors (which these agencies did with me) by serving a citation 

called "Notice of Administrative Violation" on me and holding an 

administrative hearing under Chapter 34.05 RCW to adjudicate the alleged 

violation of a criminal statute, namely RCW 26.28.080 .. 

The Court of Appeals says on Page 4 of its Opinion, in regard to 

my citation, 

"Although the citation refers to RCW 26.28.080, indicating the 
alleged violation involved sale of tobacco products to a minor, it 
does not include any reference to a criminal charge, a prosecuting 
authority, or criminal court proceeding." [Emphasis added[ 04 

My answer to the Court of Appeals' claim here is twofold: (1) The citation 

itself is a criminal charge. It charges a person with violating RCW 

26.28.080, a criminal statute. (2) That the citation does not include any 

reference to a[ nother] criminal charge" is actually its failing, because the 

citation would need to do that in order to satisfy the Court's attempted 

analogy to Winchester v. Stein, supra; that is, in order to validly assert a 

civil monetary penalty for previously adjudicated criminal violations The 

citation does not do that because the Liquor Control Board and the Office 

of Administrative Hearings adjudicate the alleged criminal violation of 

RCW 26.28.080 themselves -and that is unconstitutional under both the 

15 



Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 22 ofthe 

Washington Constitution. The main tobacco statute I complain about, 

RCW 70.155.100, contains no proviso that the Liquor Control Board must 

base its "finding" of a violation of RCW 26.28.080 upon a previous 

criminal conviction under that statute, i.e., that the Board cannot itself 

adjudicate alleged violations. In light ofthis omission, it is reasonable to 

assume that the Legislature intended the Liquor Control Board and the 

Office of Administrative Hearings to adjudicate alleged violations, but 

such adjudication is unconstitutional. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals says that I did not "allege or 

demonstrate that the Board's administrative procedure here resulted in a 

criminal conviction or the imposition of a criminal sentence." [Footnote 

omitted] My reply is: Of course not, because the AP A does not give 

administrative law judges the authority to impose criminal sentences, and 

because administrative hearings cannot result in criminal convictions. 

Any attempt to do either of those things would be struck down by the 

courts immediately. But that is all the more reason that the Liquor 

Control Board and administrative law judges should not make the initial 

and only adjudication of whether a person has violated the criminal statute 

in question in this case, namely, RCW 26.28.080. Currently, given the 

same situation as in my case, people who receive these citations are 
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justified in fearing that if an administrative law judge in a proceeding 

under Chapter 34.05 RCW "finds" them to have violated RCW 26.28.080 

("find" being the crucial word in RCW 70.155.100 (3) and (4) because it 

means to adjudicate, i.e., to determine guilt or innocence), then they will 

have a criminal record showing a gross misdemeanor, and this fear is 

constitutes subtle coercion to avoid contesting the Liquor Control Board's 

citation and, instead, to pay the monetary penalty and increase the Board's 

enforcement statistics. 

D. Analysis of the offending portions of the tobacco statute: 
RCW 70.155.100 (3), RCW 70.155.100 (4), and RCW 
70.155.100 (8) 

According to RCW 9A.20.010, Washington has five classifications 

of crimes: Class A felony, Class B felony, Class C felony, gross 

misdemeanor and misdemeanor: 

"RCW 9A.20.010 
Classification and designations of crimes. 

(1) Classified Felonies. (a) The particular classification of each 
felony defined in Title 9A RCW is expressly designated in the 
section defining it. 

(b) For purposes of sentencing, classified felonies are 
designated as one ofthree classes, as follows: 

(i) Class A felony; or 
(ii) Class B felony; or 
(iii)Class C felony. 
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(2) Misdemeanors and Gross Misdemeanors. (a) Any crime 
punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars, or 
by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than ninety 
days, or by both such fine and imprisonment is a misdemeanor. 
whenever the performance of any act is prohibited by any 
statute, and no penalty for the violation of such statute is 
imposed, the committing of such act shall be a misdemeanor. 

(b) All crimes other than felonies and misdemeanors are 
gross misdemeanors." [Emphasis added] 

RCW 26.28.080, the criminal tobacco statute, states: 

"RCW 26.28.080 
Selling or giving tobacco to minor - Belief of 
Representative capacity, no defense- Penalty. 

Every person who sells or gives, or permits to be sold or 
given to any person under the age of eighteen years 
any cigar, cigarette, cigarette paper or wrapper, or 
tobacco in any form is guilty of a gross misdemeanor. ... " 
[Emphasis added] 

And here are the relevant portions of the offending unconstitutional 

tobacco statute: 

"RCW 70.155.100 
Penalties, sanctions, and actions against licensees. 

(3) The liquor control board may imposed a monetary penalty 
upon any person other than a licensed cigarette retailer if 
the liquor control board finds that the person has violated 
RCW 26.28.080, 70.155.030, 70.155.040. 70.155.050, 
70.155.070, or 70.155.090. [Emphasis added] 

( 4) The monetary penalty that the liquor control board may 
impose based upon one or more findings under subsection (3) 
of this section may not exceed the following: 
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(a) For violation ofRCW 26.28.080 or 70.155.020, fifty 
dollars for the first violation and one hundred dollars for 
subsequent violation; 

. . . . . . . . . [Emphasis added] 

(8) All proceedings under subsections (1) through (6) of 
this section shall be conducted in accordance with Chapter 
34.05RCW . 

. . . . . . .. "[Emphasis added] 

Chapter 34.05 RCW is Washington's Administrative Procedure 

Act. Note the purported grant of authority in RCW 70.155.100 (8) to 

conduct hearings on alleged violations of subsections ( 1) through ( 6) of 

RCW 70.155.100 (which includes the Liquor Control Board's "finding" 

violations ofRCW 26.28.080) "in accordance with Chapter 34.05 RCW", 

which is Washington's Administrative Procedures Act. If a statute is 

unconstitutional on its face, a reasonable interpretation of the statute's 

wording conflicts openly with the relevant constitutional provisions to 

which one is comparing the statute. Parmalee v. O'Neel, 145 Wash.App. 

223,235, 186 P.3d 1094, 1100 (2010). The rights granted to persons by 

the Washington Constitution and the U.S. Constitution make any 

purported infringements of those rights by Washington statutes, in 

particular by any statutes such as RCW 70.155.1 00(3), RCW 70.155.100 

(4) and RCW 70.155.100 (8), when read together, unconstitutional. 

Because the unconstitutionality of these tobacco statutes is visually 
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obvious from a reasonable reading of their words alone, the statutes are 

unconstitutional on their face, beyond a reasonable doubt. 

E. RCW 70.155. 100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when read 
together with RCW 70.155.100 (8), conflict with the Sixth 
Amendment and are therefore unconstitutional on their 
face. 

The U.S. Constitution, and therefore also the Sixth Amendment, 

is the supreme law of the land, i.e., its authority outranks any other legal 

authority. McCullogh v. Maryland, 4 Wheat. 316, 17 U.S. 9, 4 L.Ed. 579 

( 1819). This principle is acknowledged in the Washington Constitution, 

Article I, Section 2: 

"The Constitution of the United States is the supreme law 
of the land." 

The Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, requires a jury trial 

in criminal cases. The relevant portion of the Sixth Amendment states: 

"In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right 
to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State 
and district wherein the crime shall have been committed ... " 

In Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 161, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 

491 (1968), the U. S. Supreme Court used the doctrine of selective 

incorporation to impose part of the U.S. Constitution's Sixth Amendment 

on the states. See Justice Black's discussion, in Duncan, 391 U.S. at 162, 

of the doctrine of selective incorporation. In particular, the Supreme 

Court made the Sixth Amendment's requirement of a jury trial in criminal 
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cases applicable to the states when the maximum potential imprisonment 

is more than six months. Ibid. at 159, reaffirmed in Baldwin v. New York, 

399 U.S. 66, 74,90 S. Ct. 1886,26 L.Ed.2d 437 (1970). 

RCW 9.92.020, cited immediately below, fixes the maximum 

possible punishment for gross misdemeanors like RCW 26.28.080 (i.e., a 

criminal statute which contains no statement of the punishment that can be 

imposed for the gross misdemeanor) at a maximum potential 

imprisonment of 364 days, or a maximum fine of $5,000, or both: 

"RCW 9.92.020 
Punishment of gross misdemeanor when not fixed 
by statute. 

Every person convicted of a gross misdemeanor for which 
no punishment is prescribed in any statute in force at the time 
of conviction and sentence, shall be punished by imprisonment 
in the county jail for a maximum term fixed by the court of 
up to three hundred sixty-four days, or by a fine in an amount 
fixed by the court of not more than five thousand dollars, or by 
both such imprisonment and fine." 

Thus the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution 

requires a jury trial in Washington for gross misdemeanors, because gross 

misdemeanors have a maximum potential punishment of 364 days, which 

is more than six months. Because a violation of RCW 26.28.080 is a gross 

misdemeanor, anyone charged with a violation of that tobacco statute is 

entitled to a jury trial, so any other tobacco statutes such as RCW 

70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4) when read together with RCW 
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70.155.100 (8) --which purport to grant jurisdiction to the Office of 

Administrative Hearings (OAH) under the Administrative Procedure Act 

to adjudicate an alleged violation ofRCW 26.28.080) --are 

unconstitutional on their face beyond a reasonable doubt. 

F. RCW 70.155.100 (3) and RCW 70.155.100 (4), when read 
together with RCW 70.155.100 (8), conflict with Article I, 
Section 22 of the Washington Constitution and are 
therefore unconstitutional on their face. 

The Washington Constitution in Article I, Section 22 states that all 

persons charged with a crime are entitled to a jury trial: 

"SECTION 22 RIGHTS OF THE ACCUSED. In criminal 
Prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and 
defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and 
cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, 
to testify in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against 
him face to face, to have compulsory process to compel the 
attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy 
public trial by an impartial jury of the county in which the 
offense is charged to have been committed and the right to 
appeal in all cases .... " [Emphasis added.] 

The Washington Constitution outranks any other Washington legal 

authority, including statutes enacted by the legislature. As the Washington 

Supreme Court has said, 

" ... the power of the legislature to enact all reasonable laws 
is unrestrained except where, either expressly or by fair 
inference, it is prohibited by the state and federal 
constitutions. Where the validity of a statute is assailed, 
there is a presumption of the constitutionality of the 
legislative enactment, unless its repugnancy to the 
constitution clearly appears or is made to appear beyond 
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a reasonable doubt." [Citations omitted] [Emphasis added] 
Clark v. Dwyer, 56 Wash.2d 425,431, 353 P.2d 941, 945 

(1960) 

In particular the Washington Constitution outranks any statute such as 

RCW 70.155.100 (8), which tries to place adjudication of RCW 

70.155.100 (3), RCW 70.155.100 (4), and RCW 26.28.080 under 

The Washington Supreme Court case that has interpreted Article I, 

Section 22 of the Washington Constitution ruled that in Washington, jury 

trials in criminal cases are required even for misdemeanors. City of Pasco 

v. Mace, 98 Wash.2d 87, 101,653 P.2d 618,625 (1982). Although the 

U.S. Supreme Court's interpretation of the Sixth Amendment, made 

applicable to the states via the 14th Amendment by Duncan, supra, 391 

U.S. 145, 162, and Baldwin, supra, 399 U.S. 66, 74, establishes the 

minimum protection under the Bill of Rights which a state must respect, 

state courts are at liberty to find in their own constitutions greater 

protection than is afforded by the federal constitution, according to the 

U.S. Supreme Court. Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 713, 719, 95 S. Ct. 1215, 

43 L.Ed.2d 570 (1975). And the Washington Supreme Court has done so

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