89794-8

RECITYED SUPREME COURT STATE OF MUSHIFICTOR

2014 JAN 13 P 3:23

COA NO. 69359-0- I BY ROMALP AND METERS

CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN F. KLINKERT,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD,

Respondent.

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KIM O'NEAL, WSBA #12939 Senior Counsel ISAAC WILLIAMSON, WSBA #43921 Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 664-0542

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

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

Although Mr. Klinkert fails to cite any authority for why his petition for review should be granted, he appears to base his petition on

² The Appendix contains copies of the Administrative Violation Notice, initial order, and final order of the Board.

 $^{^3}$ RCW 70.155.100(4) provides that the Board may impose a \$50 fine for a first time violation and \$100 for subsequent violations.

RAP 13.4(b). Pet. for Rev. at 6. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for discretionary review will be accepted "[i]f a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. . . ." Mr. Klinkert fails to establish a significant question of constitutional law. It is well established that the Legislature may create dual enforcement mechanisms that empower agencies to enforce civil penalties for conduct that can also be punished criminally. When an agency chooses the civil enforcement mechanism, there is no constitutional right to a jury trial.

The Court of Appeals properly applied settled law regarding the authority of the Legislature to provide for civil penalties for conduct that can also be punished with criminal sanctions and found no constitutional violation. The Court of Appeals also correctly determined that Mr. Klinkert failed to meet his burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that RCW 70.155.100 is facially unconstitutional.

A. The Legislature May Constitutionally Empower Agencies To Civilly Enforce Violations For Conduct That Also Can Be Punished Criminally

RCW 70.155.100 provides, in relevant part, that the "[B]oard may impose a monetary penalty upon any person . . . if the [Board] finds that the person violated RCW 26.28.080." RCW 70.155.100(3). This penalty is limited to \$50 or \$100. RCW 70.155.100(4)(a). The fact that RCW 26.28.080 also could potentially be prosecuted as a gross misdemeanor is irrelevant to this case. In its decision, the Court of Appeals correctly explained that the Board assesses *civil* penalties in *civil* proceedings under RCW 70.155.100. *Klinkert v. Washington State Liquor Control Board*, No. 69359-0-I, at 4 (Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2013).

Enforcement mechanisms such as the one at issue here are consistent with both the state and federal constitutions. The Legislature may constitutionally provide for both criminal and civil sanctions for the same conduct. *Hudson v. U.S.*, 522 U.S. 93, 95-96, 118 S. Ct. 488, 139 L. Ed. 2d 450 (1997). A civil enforcement statute's description of offending conduct "by reference to criminal statutes does not mean that its occurrence must be established by criminal standards or that the consequences of a finding of liability in a private civil action are identical to the consequences of a criminal conviction." *Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co.*, 473 U.S. 479, 491, 105 S. Ct. 3275, 87 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1985). Indeed, "the Legislature may provide for both civil sanctions and criminal penalties in the same statute without thereby converting the civil ///

- ///
- ///

proceeding to a criminal or penal one." *Winchester v. Stein*, 135 Wn.2d 835, 852-53, 959 P.2d 1077 (1998).⁴ See also Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 92, 123 S. Ct. 1140, 155 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2003) ("only the clearest proof will suffice to override legislative intent and transform what has been denominated a civil remedy into a criminal penalty" (quoting *Hudson*, 522 U.S. at 100) (internal quotes omitted)); *In re Detention of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 417, 986 P.2d 790 (1999) (same). Thus, the Legislature may provide for civil enforcement mechanisms for conduct that also can be subject to criminal prosecution.

B. There Was No Criminal Prosecution Here And Mr. Klinkert's Arguments Do Not Support His Position That RCW 70.155.100 Is Facially Unconstitutional

Mr. Klinkert argues that RCW 70.155.100 is unconstitutional because the Board cannot adjudicate criminal violations. His argument is misplaced because the Board has never attempted to adjudicate criminal violations. Instead, all of Mr. Klinkert's arguments rest on his faulty contention that, as a result of his administrative hearing, he was subjected to a criminal prosecution and convicted of a gross misdemeanor. Pet. for Rev. at 11. His contention is contradicted by the facts: he received a *civil*

8

⁴ Citing Beckett v. Department of Soc. & Health Servs., 87 Wn.2d 184, 188, 550 P.2d 529 (1976), overruled on other grounds by Dunner v. McLaughlin, 100 Wn.2d 832, 676 P.2d 444 (1984); Yakima County Clean Air Auth. v. Glascam Builders, Inc., 85 Wn.2d 255, 260, 534 P.2d 33 (1975); State v. Ralph Williams' N.W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., 82 Wn.2d 265, 278, 510 P.2d 233 (1973).

Administrative Violation Notice, he was never arraigned, he was never summoned to court, the case was never referred to a criminal prosecuting attorney, he never faced the possibility of confinement or other criminal sanctions, and he was never found guilty of a crime or entered a guilty plea.

Although Mr. Klinkert was not subjected to any criminal proceeding under RCW 70.155.100, he claims that statute is unconstitutional because it denies a right to a jury. The right to trial by jury guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions exists only in the context of a "criminal prosecution." Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI. While "criminal prosecution" is not defined in statute, a "conviction" means "an adjudication of guilt pursuant to Title 10 or 13 RCW and includes a verdict of guilty, a finding of guilty, and acceptance of a plea of guilty." RCW 9.94A.030. Titles 10 and 13 RCW refer to criminal procedure for the courts and juvenile courts, respectively.

///

///

Administrative agencies do not rely on Titles 10 or 13 RCW; rather, they adjudicate civil violations pursuant to Title 34 RCW, which contains Washington's APA.⁵

Mr. Klinkert seems to be asking this Court to treat the Board's administrative adjudication as a criminal prosecution, thereby requiring a jury trial, *see* Pet. for Rev. at 21, and he offers several misplaced arguments in support of his request.

Mr. Klinkert first argues that the Court of Appeals "appears to have misunderstood the gist of [his] complaint." Pet. for Rev. at 11. His argument appears to be that the Board cannot assess a monetary penalty under RCW 70.155.100 without first adjudicating whether a crime was committed under RCW 26.28.080. As explained above, however, the Legislature may provide for both civil sanctions and criminal penalties for the same conduct without converting the civil proceeding into a criminal prosecution and without requiring the application of criminal standards. Mr. Klinkert fundamentally mistakes the operation of RCW 70.155.100. No criminal sanctions were sought and none were imposed. This civil

10

⁵ See State v. Ivie, 136 Wn.2d 173, 177-78, 961 P.2d 941 (1998) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 1221 (6th ed.1990) (defining " prosecution" as "[a] criminal action; a proceeding instituted and carried on by due course of law, before a competent tribunal, for the purpose of determining the guilt or innocence of a person charged with crime") and stating that "the meaning of 'criminal prosecution' must further be determined from the statutory context in which it is used").

adjudication by a state agency is entirely separate from a potential criminal adjudication by the courts.

Mr. Klinkert next argues that the Court of Appeals provided a "misleading" summary of the *Winchester* decision. Pet. for Rev. at 14. Again, Mr. Klinkert misunderstands the law and the purpose for which the Court of Appeals cited *Winchester*. The Court of Appeals cited *Winchester* as an example of how the Legislature may constitutionally establish civil sanctions for conduct that also is criminal in nature. *Klinkert*, No. 69359-0-I, at 4 (Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2013). The fact that the defendant in *Winchester* "already had a criminal jury trial" is irrelevant to whether a dual enforcement mechanism is constitutional.

Mr. Klinkert next argues that the *absence* of any reference to a criminal charge in the administrative citation shows that the administrative citation itself is a criminal charge, unconstitutionally authorized by RCW 70.155.100. Pet. for Rev. at 15-16. Once again, Mr. Klinkert fundamentally mischaracterizes the nature of proceedings under RCW 70.155.100. Neither the administrative law judge nor the Board attempted to adjudicate a criminal prosecution or impose a criminal sentence. No criminal prosecution happened here, and none is allowed by

11

RCW 70.155.100. RCW 70.155.100 simply allows the Board to adjudicate a civil violation against a person who sells tobacco to a minor.⁶

Finally, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Mr. Klinkert's arguments that he is entitled to a jury trial. *Klinkert*, No. 69359-0-I, at 4 (Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2013). His argument depends entirely on his mistaken contention that he was subject to a criminal prosecution. He was not. This violation was handled solely by an administrative agency pursuant to its civil regulatory authority, and he was never subject to any potential criminal penalty at any stage of these administrative proceedings. Because there was no criminal charge and no criminal prosecution, there was no violation of his constitutional right to a jury trial.

///

. . .

///

⁶ Mr. Klinkert's argument that the APA does not authorize criminal proceedings, Pet. for Rev. at 16-17, while correct, is irrelevant, since no criminal proceeding was undertaken here.

VII. CONCLUSION

Mr. Klinkert fails to establish any of the grounds for granting review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals committed no error in concluding that Mr. Klinkert failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that RCW 70.155.100 is facially unconstitutional. Mr. Klinkert's petition for review should be denied.

3 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 14⁴th day of January, 2014.

> ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KIM O'NEAL, WSBA #12939 Senior Counsel ISAAC WILLIAMSON, WSBA #43921 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent Washington State Liquor Control Board

Washington State Liquor Control Board NOTICE OF BOARD ACTION ON TOBACCO VIOLATION Licensee Case # Individual Case Some (Last, First, MI) Sent Phone DOF UBI No 1 License No. Driver's License ID Card No. Physical Location of Violation (If licensee address is a mailing address) Cito 3-16-11 Date of Violation Time of V 21 RCW 26.23.080 - Sale of Tobacco Products to a Person under Age 18 CW 70.155.040 - Cigarettes must be sold in Original Package O Other_ Proposed Penalty per RCW 70, 155, 100 (Violations within a Two Year Period) Licensee (Owner); I 1ª Violation: \$100 2ª Violation: \$300 3rd Violation: \$1000 & 6 months SUSDERSION Other Date and Time for Suspension to start: Employee Making Sale I* Violation: \$50 or attend ID Checking Class 2 2nd and Subsequent Violations 5100 Served On: D Licensee Q Manager **O** Employee 95 31 Issued by Officer: No. Signature Date: 3-24-11 Time: 1513 · Please read your options and instructions on both sides carefully. . The Board mast receive your request to contest this violation notice within 20 days from the date this notice was issued. . If you do not respond, the monetary penalty must be received within 30 days of the issue date or legal action to collect civil penalties including attorney fees and court costs will result. LIC 297 4-09

White - Headquarters; Canary - Officer: Pink - Individual

ADMINISTRATIVE VIOLATION PROCESS

Please check the appropriate box. I choose to:

Pay the monetary penalty indicated on the front of this notice. Payment attached. (Make check or money order payable to: Washington State Liquor Control Board and include the case number on the front of this notice.)

Any monetary payment (Check of Money Order) must be received within 30 days of the date this notice was issued. Mail to:

Washington State Liquor Control Board

Financial ____ PO_Box #3085 ---

Olympia, WA 98504-3085